

Province of Alberta

# LIBRARIES ACT

# Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000 Chapter L-11

Current as of October 4, 2007

# Office Consolidation

© Published by Alberta Queen's Printer

Alberta Queen's Printer 5<sup>th</sup> Floor, Park Plaza 10611 - 98 Avenue Edmonton, AB T5K 2P7 Phone: 780-427-4952 Fax: 780-452-0668

E-mail: qp@gov.ab.ca Shop on-line at www.qp.alberta.ca

#### **Copyright and Permission Statement**

Alberta Queen's Printer holds copyright on behalf of the Government of Alberta in right of Her Majesty the Queen for all Government of Alberta legislation. Alberta Queen's Printer permits any person to reproduce Alberta's statutes and regulations without seeking permission and without charge, provided due diligence is exercised to ensure the accuracy of the materials produced, and Crown copyright is acknowledged in the following format:

© Alberta Queen's Printer, 20\_.\*

\*The year of first publication of the legal materials is to be completed.

#### Note

All persons making use of this consolidation are reminded that it has no legislative sanction, that amendments have been embodied for convenience of reference only. The official Statutes and Regulations should be consulted for all purposes of interpreting and applying the law.

# Regulations

The following is a list of the regulations made under the *Libraries Act* that are filed as Alberta Regulations under the Regulations Act

|               | Alta. Reg. | Amendments                    |
|---------------|------------|-------------------------------|
| Libraries Act |            | 282/99-251/2001               |
| Liotario      |            | 193/2003, 172/2007<br>68/2008 |

# LIBRARIES ACT

Chapter L-11

# Table of Contents

1 Definitions

# Part 1 Municipal Libraries

- 2 Application
- 3 Municipal board
- 4 Appointment
- 5 Date of appointment
- 6 Validity of proceedings
- 7 Board duties
- 8 Budget
- 9 Accounts
- 10 Library building and equipment
- 10.1 Dissolution, amalgamation or annexation of municipality
  - **12** Dissolution of board

### Part 1.1 Intermunicipal Library Boards

- 12.1 Definition
- **12.2** Intermunicipal library board
- **12.3** Members of board
- 12.4 Validity of proceedings
- 12.5 Board duties
- 12.6 Budget
- 12.7 Accounts

# Part 2 Library Systems

- 13 Library system
- 14 Library system board

- 15 Joining an existing library system
- 16 Appointment
- 17 System board duties
- 18 Budget
- **19** Restriction of authority
- **20** Establishment and capital grants
- 21 Annual grants
- 22 Withdrawal from library system agreements
- 23 Dissolution of a library system board
- **24** Borrowing for library system boards

# Part 3 Community Libraries

- 25 Community library
- 26 Community library board
- 27 Community board duties
- 28 Dissolution of board

#### Part 4 Federations

- **29** Forming a federation board
- **30** Operating a federation board

# Part 5 General

- 31 Board member disqualification
- 32 Chair of board
- 33 Meetings
- 34 Record of meetings
- 35 Library agreements
- 36 Safety and use of library facilities
- **37** Bylaw transmission
- 38 Bylaw invalidated
- **39** Authorization to inspect
- 40 Regulations
- 41 Offence
- 42 Disposition of fines

HER MAJESTY, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly of Alberta, enacts as follows:

#### Definitions

1 In this Act,

- (a) "basic information service" means basic information service as defined in the regulations for the purposes of this Act;
- (b) "board" means a municipal board, intermunicipal library board, library system board, community board or federation board;
- (c) "community board" means a community library board established or continued under Part 3;
- (d) "community library" means a library established or continued under Part 3;
- (e) "council" means
  - (i) in the case of a city, town, municipal district, village, summer village or specialized municipality, the council;
  - (ii) in the case of a school authority, the board of trustees,
  - (iii) in the case of a Metis settlement, the settlement council,
  - (iv) in the case of an improvement district, the Minister responsible for the *Municipal Government Act*, or
  - (v) in the case of a special area, the Minister responsible for the *Special Areas Act*;
- (f) "federation board" means a federation board established under Part 4;
- (f.1) "intermunicipal library board" means an intermunicipal library board established under Part 1.1;
- (g) "library system" means a library system established, or a regional library continued, as a library system under Part 2;
- (h) "library system board" means a library system board under Part 2;

| Section 2 | LIBRARIES ACT   | Chapter L-11   |  |
|-----------|---|--|--|
| (i)       |   | ister" means the Minister determined under section<br>the <i>Government Organization Act</i> as the Minister<br>nsible for this Act; |  |
| (j)       | "municipal board" means a municipal l   | ibrary board;  |  |
| (k)       | "municipal library" means a library tha<br>library services under the control and n<br>municipal library board or an intermun<br>board; | nanagement of a  |  |
| (1)       | "municipality" means municipality as o<br>Municipal Government Act;   | lefined in the   |  |
| (m)       | "public library" means a municipal libr<br>or community library;  | ary, library system  |  |
| (n)       | Public Library Rate" means the rate assessed and levied ursuant to section 11;  |  |  |
| (0)       | or regional division.   | hool authority" means a school district, school division<br>regional division.<br>RSA 2000 cL-11 s1;2006 c5 s                        |  |

# **Municipal Libraries**

#### Application

2 This Part applies to every municipal library board maintained in whole or in part by property taxes and

- (a) established under this Part, or
- (b) continued under this Part.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s2;2006 c5 s3

RSA 2000

### **Municipal board**

**3(1)** The council of a municipality may, by bylaw, establish a municipal library board.

(2) The council shall forward a copy of a bylaw made under subsection (1) to the Minister.

(3) Repealed 2006 c5 s4.

(4) On being established, the municipal library board is a corporation and shall be known as "The (name of municipality) Library Board".

|           |               | R5A 2000     |
|-----------|---------------|--------------|
| Section 4 | LIBRARIES ACT | Chapter L-11 |
|           |               |              |

(5) The boards of management of all public libraries to which Part 3 of the *Libraries Act*, RSA 1980 cL-12, applies are continued as municipal library boards under this Act.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s3;2006 c5 s4

#### Appointment

**4(1)** A municipal board shall consist of not fewer than 5 and not more than 10 members appointed by council.

(2) A person who is an employee of the municipal board is not eligible to be a member of that board.

(3) Not more than 2 members of council may be members of the municipal board.

(4) A member of the municipal board is eligible to be reappointed for only 2 additional consecutive terms of office, unless at least 2/3 of the whole council passes a resolution stating that the member may be reappointed as a member for more than 3 consecutive terms.

(5) Subject to subsection (6), appointments to the municipal board shall be for a term of up to 3 years.

(6) When appointments are made in respect of a first municipal board, council shall, as nearly as may be possible, appoint 1/3 of the members for a term of one year, 1/3 of the members for a term of 2 years and the remaining members for a term of 3 years.

(7) Notwithstanding this section, the term of office of a member continues until a member is appointed in that member's place. 1983 cL-12.1 s10;1998 c19 s5

#### Date of appointment

**5(1)** The appointments of the members of the municipal board shall be made on the date fixed by council.

(2) Any vacancy arising from any cause must be filled by council as soon as reasonably possible for council to do so.

1983 cL-12.1 s11

### Validity of proceedings

**6** No resolution, bylaw, proceeding or action of any kind of the municipal board may be held invalid or set aside for the reason that any person whose election to council has been judged invalid acted as a member of the board.

Section 7

#### **Board duties**

7 The municipal board, subject to any enactment that limits its authority, has full management and control of the municipal library and shall, in accordance with the regulations, organize, promote and maintain comprehensive and efficient library services in the municipality and may co-operate with other boards and libraries in the provision of those services.

LIBRARIES ACT

1983 cL-12.1 s13

#### Budget

**8(1)** The municipal board shall before December 1 in each year prepare a budget and an estimate of the money required during the ensuing fiscal year to operate and manage the municipal library.

(2) The budget and the estimate of money shall be forthwith submitted to the council of the municipality.

(3) Council may approve the estimate under subsection (1) in whole or in part.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s8;2006 c5 s5

#### Accounts

**9** The municipal board shall

- (a) keep accounts of its receipts, payments, credits and liabilities,
- (b) have a person who is not a member of the municipal board and whose qualifications are satisfactory to council review the accounts each calendar year and prepare a financial report in a form satisfactory to council, and
- (c) submit the financial report to council immediately after its completion.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s9;2006 c5 s6

#### Library building and equipment

**10(1)** When money is required for the purpose of acquiring real property for the purposes of a building to be used as a municipal library or for erecting, repairing, furnishing and equipping a building to be used as a municipal library, the council may, at the request of the municipal board, take all necessary steps to furnish the money requested or the portion of it that the council considers expedient.

(2) Money approved by the council under subsection (1) may be borrowed by the council under the authority of a bylaw and on the

security of debentures, which shall be termed "Public Library Debentures".

(3) The provisions of the *Municipal Government Act* or the *School Act*, as the case may be, governing

- (a) the passing of bylaws for borrowing money,
- (b) the issue and form of debentures, and
- (c) the assessment, levy and collection of money necessary to meet the indebtedness incurred by the issue of debentures,

apply to the borrowing of money under subsection (2). 1983 cL-12.1 s16

#### Dissolution, amalgamation or annexation of municipality

**10.1(1)** If the Lieutenant Governor in Council makes an order under the *Municipal Government Act* dissolving a municipality, that order is deemed to dissolve any municipal library board established by that municipality and to pass to the municipality, immediately prior to the dissolution of the municipality, all the rights, assets and liabilities of the municipal library board.

(2) When an amalgamation of municipal authorities has been initiated under Part 4 of the *Municipal Government Act* and no agreement can be reached among those municipal authorities regarding the rights, assets and liabilities of a municipal library board, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may, by order, dissolve the municipal library board and may make any order the Lieutenant Governor in Council considers appropriate in respect of the disposition of the rights, assets and liabilities of the municipal library board.

(3) When an annexation of land from one municipal authority to another municipal authority has been initiated under Part 4 of the *Municipal Government Act* and no agreement can be reached between the municipal authorities regarding the rights, assets and liabilities of a municipal library board established by the municipal authority from which the land is to be annexed, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may, by order, dissolve the municipal library board and may make any order the Lieutenant Governor in Council considers appropriate in respect of the disposition of the rights, assets and liabilities of the municipal library board.

2006 c5 s7

**11** Repealed 2006 c5 s8.

#### **Dissolution of board**

**12(1)** If a municipal board fails to open a library to the public for a period of 2 years, the council may make an ex parte application to the Court of Queen's Bench for an order declaring the municipal board dissolved.

(2) The order dissolving the municipal board vests in the municipality all the property of the municipal board, and the council through its proper officers may take possession of the vested property and dispose of it in any manner it considers advisable.

1983 cL-12.1 s18

# Part 1.1 Intermunicipal Library Boards

#### Definition

**12.1** In this Part, "intermunicipal agreement" means an agreement under section 12.2.

2006 c5 s9

#### Intermunicipal library board

**12.2(1)** The council of a municipality may, by bylaw, authorize the municipality to enter into an agreement that meets the requirements of the regulations with one or two other municipalities respecting the establishment of an intermunicipal library board to provide library services to the residents of the municipalities.

(2) The council of each municipality that is a party to the agreement shall forward a copy of the bylaw and the agreement under subsection (1) to the Minister.

(3) On receipt of the bylaws and the agreement under subsection (2) the Minister may, by order, establish an intermunicipal library board.

(4) An intermunicipal library board established under subsection(3) is a corporation with the name set out in the Ministerial order.

2006 c5 s9

#### Members of board

**12.3(1)** An intermunicipal library board consists of the members appointed to the board in accordance with the intermunicipal agreement.

|              |               | K3A 2000     |
|--------------|---------------|--------------|
| Section 12.4 | LIBRARIES ACT | Chapter L-11 |
|              |               |              |

(2) A person who is an employee of an intermunicipal library board is not eligible to be a member of that board.

2006 c5 s9

#### Validity of proceedings

**12.4** Where a person has acted as a member of an intermunicipal library board, no resolution, bylaw, proceeding or action of any kind of the intermunicipal library board may be held invalid or set aside for the reason that that person's election to the council of a municipality is invalid.

2006 c5 s9

#### **Board duties**

**12.5** An intermunicipal library board, subject to any enactment that limits its authority, has full management and control of the municipal library established by the board and shall, in accordance with the regulations, organize, promote and maintain comprehensive and efficient library services in the municipalities that are the parties to the intermunicipal agreement respecting that board and may co-operate with other boards and libraries in the provision of those services.

2006 c5 s9

#### Budget

**12.6** Each year an intermunicipal library board shall, before the date specified in the intermunicipal agreement respecting that board, submit to each municipality that is a party to the agreement a budget and an estimate of the money required during the ensuing fiscal year to operate and manage the intermunicipal library board, including the amounts to be paid by each municipality in accordance with the agreement.

2006 c5 s9

#### Accounts

**12.7** An intermunicipal library board shall

- (a) keep accounts of its receipts, payments, credits and liabilities,
- (b) have a person who is not a member of the intermunicipal library board and whose qualifications are approved in accordance with the intermunicipal agreement respecting that board review the accounts each calendar year and prepare a financial report in the form required by the intermunicipal agreement, and

(c) submit the financial report to the council of each municipality that is a party to the intermunicipal agreement immediately after its completion.

2006 c5 s9

# Part 2 Library Systems

#### Library system

**13** Subject to this Act and the regulations, a municipality, improvement district, special area, Metis settlement or school authority,

- (a) on entering into and becoming a party to an agreement that contains provisions on terms required by regulations, with one or more municipalities, improvement districts, special areas, Metis settlements or school authorities, and
- (b) on complying with the regulations,

may request the Minister to establish a library system. 1983 cL-12.1 s19;1998 c19 s7

#### Library system board

**14(1)** On receipt of a request referred to in section 13, the Minister may

- (a) establish a library system board, and
- (b) prescribe the boundaries of the library system,

and when the Minister does so the parties to the agreement described in section 13 become members of the library system.

(2) On being established, the library system board is a corporation and shall be known as "The (name of region) Library Board".

(3) All boards of management of regional libraries under the *Libraries Act*, RSA 1980 cL-12, are continued as library system boards under this Act.

(4) The agreements referred to in section 13 that have been entered into under the *Libraries Act*, RSA 1980 cL-12, are continued under this Act, as modified by this Act.

#### Joining an existing library system

**15** A municipality, improvement district, special area, Metis settlement or school authority may, in accordance with the regulations, become a member of a library system by complying with the terms of the agreement referred to in section 13, becoming a party to the agreement and receiving the approval of the Minister. 1983 cL-12.1 s21;1998 c19 s8

#### Appointment

- **16** A library system board shall consist of
  - (a) one member for each municipality, Metis settlement and school authority that is a member of the library system who is appointed by the council of the municipality, Metis settlement or school authority,
  - (b) one member for each improvement district that is a member of the library system, who is appointed by the Minister responsible for the *Municipal Government Act*,
  - (c) one member for each special area that is a member of the library system, who is appointed by the Minister responsible for the *Special Areas Act*, and
  - (d) any additional members appointed in accordance with the regulations.

1983 cL-12.1 s22;1998 c19 s9

#### System board duties

**17** The library system board, subject to any enactment that limits its authority and the agreement described in section 13, has full management and control of the library system and shall, in accordance with the regulations and in co-operation with other boards, organize, promote and maintain comprehensive and efficient library services and may

- (a) borrow from time to time for the purpose of defraying its operating expenses an amount not exceeding 50% of the amount expended by it during its immediately preceding fiscal year;
- (b) fix fees for the use of library services by residents of a municipality within the boundaries of the library system that does not receive library services from the library system board.

#### Budget

**18(1)** The library system board shall, on or before a date specified by each municipality, improvement district, special area and school authority that is a party to the agreement described in section 13, submit to each of them a budget and an estimate of the money required during the ensuing fiscal year to operate and manage the library system, including the amounts to be paid by each of them.

(2) Budget approval and compliance with the amounts to be paid by each party to the agreement described in section 13 shall be in accordance with the terms of that agreement.

1983 cL-12.1 s24

#### **Restriction of authority**

**19** Notwithstanding this Part, if a municipal library has been established in a municipality and is receiving library services from the library system board, the authority of the library system board and the municipal library board or intermunicipal library board is limited by the terms of any agreement described in section 12.2 or 13.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s19;2006 c5 s10

#### Establishment and capital grants

**20** A municipality, improvement district, special area or school authority may grant money for capital works requirements and grant money to establish a library system.

1983 cL-12.1 s26

#### Annual grants

**21(1)** If an improvement district or a special area is a party to an agreement described in section 13,

- (a) the Minister responsible for the *Municipal Government Act*, in the case of an improvement district, or
- (b) the Minister responsible for the *Special Areas Act*, in the case of a special area,

may, in addition to all other rates and assessments assessed and levied for the purposes of an improvement district or special area, assess and levy from year to year a special annual rate on the assessed value of all property liable to taxation in the improvement district or special area for the purposes of the library system board and shall, on behalf of the improvement district or special area, make an annual grant, from the money derived from the special annual rate, to the library system board with respect to its budget under section 18.

|            |               | RSA 2000     |
|------------|---------------|--------------|
| Section 22 | LIBRARIES ACT | Chapter L-11 |

(2) If a school authority is a party to an agreement described in section 13, the school authority may make an annual grant to the library system board with respect to its budget under section 18. 1983 cL-12.1 s27

#### Withdrawal from the library system agreements

**22** At any time after the expiration of 3 years from the date that the party entered into the agreement, a party to an agreement described in section 13 may, by giving 12 months' notice, withdraw from the agreement.

1983 cL-12.1 s28

#### Dissolution of a library system board

**23(1)** If a library system board fails to provide library services in accordance with the regulations for 2 years, the majority of the parties to the agreement described in section 13 may join in making an application to the Court of Queen's Bench for an order declaring the library system board dissolved.

(2) The Court, in the order dissolving the board, shall vest the property of the library system board in the Minister or in the councils of the parties to the agreement described in section 13 severally or in common as it considers just, or make any other disposition of the property that it considers just in the circumstances and the Minister and the councils may then take possession of the property and dispose of it as considered advisable by them, in accordance with any terms or conditions in the order.

#### Borrowing for library system boards

**24** A municipality or a school authority that is a party to an agreement described in section 13 may, with the approval of the Minister, borrow money to acquire real property for the purposes of a building to be used as the headquarters of a library system or for erecting, repairing, furnishing and equipping a building to be used as the headquarters of a library system, and section 10(2) and (3) apply to the borrowing of the money.

1983 cL-12.1 s30

# Part 3 Community Libraries

#### **Community library**

**25** In any area, other than a municipality, where library services are not provided by a library system board, any association of persons, whether incorporated or not, may apply to the Minister to

|            |               | RSA 2000     |
|------------|---------------|--------------|
| Section 26 | LIBRARIES ACT | Chapter L-11 |

be established as a community library board and to be authorized to provide library services to the public in that area.

1983 cL-12.1 s31

#### **Community library board**

**26(1)** The Minister may establish a community library board and prescribe the boundaries of the community library.

(2) On being established, a community library board is a corporation and shall be known as "The (name of the library) Community Library Board".

(3) All community library boards under the *Libraries Act*, RSA 1980 cL-12, are continued as community library boards under this Act.

(4) The members of the community board shall be appointed in the manner and on the conditions prescribed by the Minister. 1983 cL-12.1 s32;1998 c19 s10

#### **Community board duties**

**27** The community board, subject to any enactment that limits its authority, has full management and control of the community library and may

- (a) provide library services within the boundaries of the community library in accordance with the regulations, and
- (b) raise funds for the support of the community library, including the fixing of an annual membership fee.

1983 cL-12.1 s33

#### **Dissolution of board**

**28** On the formation of a library system board, a municipal library board or an intermunicipal library board in an area where a community board is authorized to provide library services, the Minister may order that a community board be dissolved and dispose of its property in consultation with the persons who were the members of the dissolved community board.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s28;2006 c5 s11

# Part 4 Federations

#### Forming a federation board

**29(1)** Two or more municipal boards, on entering into an agreement that meets the requirements of this Act and the

Section 29

regulations, may request the Minister to establish a federation board.

- (2) An agreement described in subsection (1) must include
  - (a) either The City of Calgary Library Board or The City of Edmonton Library Board as a party to the agreement;
  - (b) provisions on establishing a plan for the co-operative provision of library services among the parties to the agreement;
  - (c) provisions respecting the amount or portion of federation board expenses that each party to the agreement is responsible for.
- (3) On receipt of a request under subsection (1), the Minister may
  - (a) establish a federation board, and
  - (b) name the federation board.

(4) On being established, a federation board is a corporation that consists of one person selected by each of the parties to the agreement described in subsection (1).

- (5) A municipal board may join an existing federation board if
  - (a) that municipal board applies for membership in the federation board,
  - (b) that municipal board meets the requirements of this Act and the regulations,
  - (c) that municipal board enters into an agreement with the federation board for membership and becomes a party to the agreement described in subsection (1),
  - (d) the members of the federation board make any necessary amendments to the agreement described in subsection (1), and
  - (e) the Minister approves the agreement referred to in clause (c), the amendments referred to in clause (d) and the municipal board's becoming a party to the agreement described in subsection (1).

(6) The Minister may order that a federation board be dissolved and dispose of its property in consultation with the members of the federation board when it is dissolved.

1998 c19 s12

# Operating a federation board

**30(1)** A federation board must

- (a) facilitate the enhancement of library services offered by its members to the public, and
- (b) encourage its members to co-operate with each other in the provision of library services to the public.

(2) A federation board may not borrow money for payment of its operating expenses in an amount that exceeds 50% of the money it spent on its operating expenses in the immediately preceding fiscal year.

(3) Each municipal board that is a party to an agreement referred to in section 29(1) must appoint one of its members to represent it at meetings of the federation board.

(4) A representative under subsection (3) may serve a term of up to 3 years.

(5) A federation board must prepare a budget prior to December 1 of each year for the next fiscal year.

(6) The fiscal year of a federation board is the same as the fiscal year of a municipality under the *Municipal Government Act*. 1998 c19 s12

## Part 5 General

#### Board member disqualification

**31(1)** A person is disqualified from remaining a member of a board if the person fails to attend, without being authorized by a resolution of the board to do so, 3 consecutive regular meetings of the board.

(2) If a member of a board is disqualified from remaining a member under subsection (1), the person is deemed to have resigned the person's seat on the board.

1983 cL-12.1 s35

#### Chair of board

**32** A board shall elect a chair and any other officers it considers necessary from among its members.

#### Meetings

**33(1)** A board shall meet at least once every 4 months and at any other times it considers necessary.

(2) If the regulations require a library system board to have an executive, that executive must meet at least once every 3 months and at any other times it considers necessary.

1983 cL-12.1 s37;1998 c19 s13

#### **Record of meetings**

**34(1)** All minutes, resolutions and bylaws of a board shall be entered in books to be kept by it for that purpose and the books shall be signed by the chair or acting chair.

(2) The minutes, resolutions and bylaws entered in books and purporting to be signed under subsection (1) are deemed to be original minutes, resolutions and bylaws, and the books shall be admitted in evidence as proof in all judicial and other proceedings without proof of the signature or official character of the person purporting to have signed them.

1983 cL-12.1 s38

#### Library agreements

**35** With the consent in writing of the Minister, a board in a municipal district may enter into agreements with any other municipal board or intermunicipal library board relating to the provision of library services to the residents of that municipal district.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s35;2006 c5 s12

#### Safety and use of library facilities

**36(1)** A board may pass bylaws for the safety and use of the library, including

- (a) the terms and conditions under which
  - (i) the public may be admitted to the building,
  - (ii) public library property may be used or borrowed by members of the public, and
  - (iii) borrowing privileges may be suspended or forfeited;
- (b) notwithstanding subsection (3), fees to be paid by members of the public for
  - (i) the issuance of library borrowing cards,

| Section 37   |                    | LIBRARIES ACT  | RSA 2000<br>Chapter L-11 |
|--|--------------------|--|--------------------------|
|  | (ii)               | the use of those parts of the build<br>purposes of the public library,           | ing not used for the     |
|  | (iii)              | photocopying,  |                          |
|  | (iv)               | receiving information in a printed magnetic or other format, and                 | , electronic,            |
|  | (v)                | receiving, on request, a library set<br>provided by a public library;            | rvice not normally       |
|  |                    | nalties to be paid by members of the rrowing privileges.                         | public for abuse of      |
|  | The <i>Reg</i>     | gulations Act does not apply to bylar 1).  | ws passed under          |
|  |                    | v or part of a bylaw that requires a n<br>y a fee or charge for any of the follo |                          |
|  |                    | nittance to any portion of a building rary purposes;                             | g used for public        |
|  | (b) us             | ng library resources on library prem   | nises;                   |
|  |                    | rrowing library resources, in any for the library;                               | mat, normally lent       |
|  | (d) ac             | quiring library resources through int  | er-library loan;         |
|  | (e) co             | nsultation with members of the libra   | ry staff;                |
|  | (f) rec            | eiving basic information service.<br>1983 c                                      | EL-12.1 s40;1998 c19 s14 |
| <ul> <li>Bylaw transmission</li> <li>37(1) A municipal library board, on passing a bylaw under section 36, shall forthwith forward a copy of the bylaw to the council of the municipality.</li> <li>(2) An intermunicipal library board, on passing a bylaw under section 36, shall forthwith forward a copy of the bylaw to the council of each municipality that is a party to the intermunicipal</li> </ul> |                    |  |                          |
|  |                    | especting that board.  | 00 cL-11 s37;2006 c5 s13 |
| -  | invalida<br>The co | ated<br>uncil of a municipality may disalloy                                     | y a bylaw passed by      |

**38** The council of a municipality may disallow a bylaw passed by a municipal board it has appointed.

#### Authorization to inspect

**39(1)** The Minister or a person authorized in writing by the Minister may, during regular business hours, inspect the books, records and accounts of a board.

(2) A person authorized under subsection (1) shall, while inspecting the books, records or accounts of a board, carry identification in the prescribed form and present it on request. 1983 cL-12.1 s43

#### Regulations

**40** The Minister may make regulations

- (a) respecting the establishment, maintenance, operation and management of public libraries;
- (b) respecting the acquisition, provision, management, maintenance and disposition of library materials and facilities by public libraries;
- (c) respecting the planning for, and provision and management of, library services;
- (d) governing the filing, by boards, of returns and reports, and their contents;
- (e) respecting the inspection of public libraries;
- (f) prescribing the form of identification for persons authorized to inspect public libraries;
- (g) providing for the making of any surveys by boards that the Minister considers necessary or advisable for the purpose of obtaining information to assist in the formulation of policies respecting matters to which this Act relates;
- (g.1) governing the matters required to be dealt with in agreements described in section 12.2;
  - (h) prescribing conditions to be complied with by any municipality, Metis settlement or school authority prior to its association with a library system;
  - (i) governing the matters required to be dealt with in agreements described in section 13 and the requirements and procedure to establish or expand a library system;
  - (j) respecting the disposition and transfer of library assets by municipal boards desirous of disposing of them to library

system boards on entering into agreements described in section 13;

- (j.1) respecting the dissolution of intermunicipal library boards;
- (k) subject to section 16, governing appointments to library system boards and the terms of office of their members;
- (l) respecting requirements for establishing a federation board and for membership in a federation board;
- (m) defining basic information service for the purposes of this Act.

RSA 2000 cL-11 s40;2006 c5 s14

#### Offence

**41(1)** Any person who wilfully contravenes any bylaw under section 36 is guilty of an offence.

(2) A person who wilfully retains any book, record, film or other library property from any public library established and conducted under the authority of this Act is guilty of an offence.

(3) A person who obstructs the Minister or a person authorized in writing by the Minister to act on the Minister's behalf in the inspection of the records of a public library is guilty of an offence. 1983 cL-12.1 s45

#### **Disposition of fines**

**42(1)** Any fine or penalty imposed pursuant to an offence under section 41(1) inures to the benefit of the board whose bylaw was contravened.

(2) Any fine or penalty imposed pursuant to an offence under section 41(2) inures to the board having the management or control of the property in respect of which the offence was committed. 1983 cL-12.1 s46